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Letter from the Managing Director 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Dear shareholders, 
  
It is my pleasure to present you the Australasian Metals Limited (Australasian or the Company) Annual 
Report for the financial year ended 30 June 2022 (FY2021). This financial year has been transformational for 
the Company, following our successful listing on ASX in May 2021, the Company was quick to get exploration 
activities underway across our portfolio of highly prospective projects in Queensland and Western Australia.  
  
We expanded our gold portfolio in 2021 with the acquisition of a 100% interest in the Capella gold project, 
Queensland, which is strategically located 10km south of the Company’s Mt Clermont project. During the 
financial year, a ~2,500m reverse circulation (RC) program was undertaken at Mt Clermont and Capella. 
Pleasingly, the RC program returned a number of high-grade gold intercepts, including 26m @ 3.88g/t gold. 
Australasian plans to follow up the successful maiden drill program in the current financial year. 
  
In line with the Company’s stated objectives, the Australasian board also identified an opportunity to gain 
exposure to the booming lithium sector, and successfully applied for a large tenement package in the 
Anningie pegmatite province. Mt Peake (EL32830) is located in Mt Peake area of the Anningie Tin-Tantalum-
Pegmatite fields in the north Arunta Region of the Northern Territory, approximately 200km north of Alice 
Springs and 250km south of Tennant Creek. The area is considered highly prospective for hard rock lithium 
mineralization. The Mt Peake project cover over 640km2 and shares a boundary with Core Lithium Limited’s 
(ASX:CXO) Anningie lithium project.  
  
In October 2021, we welcomed major lithium industry players Shandong Ruifu Lithium Industry Co Ltd and 
Tangshan Xinfeng (Hong Kong) Limited to the Company’s share register, as part of a $2.5m placement at 
$0.45 per share. Both Shandong Ruifu and Tangshan Xinfeng continue to be supportive shareholders. 
  
Fieldwork commenced at Mt Peake in late 2021 with Australasian and the CSIRO initially embarking on a 
detailed mapping and targeting exercise using a combination of ground-based surveying techniques and 
detailed satellite imagery to highlight potential lithium bearing zones. A total of 27 rock samples were 
collected with assay results announced to ASX on 16 November 2021. Rock chip sample JC001 returned high-
grade lithium mineralisation of up to 1.61% Li2O and 223ppm Ta within outcropping pegmatites.  
  
In January this year, the Company expanded its lithium exploration portfolio with the acquisition of a 90% 
joint-venture interest in the Barrow Creek lithium project.  The project comprises 5 tenements covering ~880 
km2 in the northern Arunta pegmatite province, Northern Territory. The Barrow Creek lithium project is 
located ~100kms to the northeast of the Company’s Mt Peake lithium project. 
  
Innovation is a core focus of the Australasian team and we are especially proud of our continuing partnership 
with CSIRO through the Kick-Start research program, to research “Li exploration in the Mt Peake and Barrow 
Creek Pegmatite Field”. Australasian Metals and CSIRO agreed to continue their successful collaboration to 
further narrow down the search for Li-(Ta-Sn) bearing pegmatites. The research is focused on better 
understanding the occurrence of mafic rocks hosting LCT-pegmatites and possible genetic relationships 
between the maficity of the igneous country rocks and the Li-content and/or Li-host minerals. 
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Letter from the Managing Director (cont.) 

  
With $5.15 million in cash and no debt, the board believes that the Company is well positioned to develop 
and expand its highly prospective lithium, gold and base metals portfolio in financial year 2023 and beyond.  
  
The Company is very grateful for the continued support from shareholders and we look forward to leading 
the Company in what we believe will be an exciting and successful time ahead. 
 
 

 
 
Dr Qingtao Zeng 
Managing Director 
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Directors’ Report 
 
 
The directors present their report on the consolidated entity (referred to herein as the “the Group”, or 
“consolidated entity”) consisting of Australasian Metals Limited (“the Company” or “Australasian Metals”) 
and its controlled entity for the year ended 30 June 2022. 
 
Directors 
 
The following persons were directors of Australasian Metals Limited during the whole of the financial year 
and up to the date of this report, unless otherwise stated: 

 
Dr Qingtao Zeng – Managing Director 
Rory McGoldrick – Non-Executive Chairman 
Graeme Fraser – Non-Executive Director 
 
Particulars of each Director’s experience and qualifications are set out later in this report. 
 
Operating and Financial Review 
 
Review of Operations and Principal Activities 
 
The principal activities of the Group during the financial period were gold and lithium exploration at the 
Group’s tenements situated in Queensland, Western Australia and Northern Territory. 
 
Corporate 
 
On 12 October 2021, the Company raised $2.5 million before costs through the placement of 5,555,553 new 
fully paid ordinary shares at $0.45 each. The Placement was made to major lithium industry players 
Shandong Ruifu Lithium Industry Co Ltd and Tangshan Xinfeng (Hong Kong) Limited ($1 million investment 
each) and other sophisticated and professional investors. 
 
The Company’s Annual General Meeting was held on 30 November 2021, with all resolutions passing by way 
of a poll. Following approval at the AGM, the Company’s name changed from Australasian Gold Limited to 
Australasian Metals Limited. 
 
The Company issued 1,800,000 performance rights to Qingtao Zeng, 300,000 performance rights to Rory 
McGoldrick and 300,000 performance rights to Graeme Fraser following shareholder approval at the AGM. 
Another 200,000 performance rights were issued to unrelated service providers of the Company.   
 
Financial Performance  
 
The Group’s loss after tax for the year ended 30 June 2022 was $997,902 (2021: loss of $966,949). 
 
Financial Position 
An analysis of the significant movements in Statement of Financial Position line items is provided below: 
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents 
As at 30 June 2022 the Group had cash reserves of $5,148,495, a decrease of $94,770 from 30 June 2021. 
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Directors’ Report (cont.) 

 
Total liabilities 
Total liabilities have decreased by $20,672 since 30 June 2021. 
 
Total Equity 
The movement in contributed equity since 30 June 2021 is shown below: 

 $ Ordinary shares 

1 July 2021 6,649,185 45,564,941 

Issued capital 2,686,860 6,555,553 

Share capital raising costs (19,945) - 

30 June 2022 9,316,100 52,120,494 

 
Reserves 
Reserves have decreased by $81,860 since 30 June 2021 as a result of performance rights which were 
exercised in the year (notes 12 & 13) of the attached financial statements. 
 
Review of Operations 
 
Mt Peake Lithium project, Northern Territory (100%) 
 
On 25 August 2021 the Company announced that it had applied for an exploration license in the Anningie 
pegmatite province (ELA32830). ELA32830 is located in Mt Peake area of the Anningie Tin-Tantalum-
Pegmatite fields in the north Arunta Region of the Northern Territory, approximately 200km north of Alice 
Springs and 250km south of Tennant Creek along the Stuart Highway in the Northern Territory. The area is 
considered highly prospective for hard rock lithium mineralization. ELA32830 covers over 640km2 and shares 
a boundary with Core Lithium Limited’s (ASX:CXO) Anningie lithium project (Figure 1). 
 
The Company partnered with the CSIRO under the CSIRO Kick-Start Program to research “Lithium (Li) 
Exploration in the Mt Peake Pegmatite Field” at Mt Peake. Through CSIRO, the Company gained access to 
state-of-the-art optical, thermal and geophysical remote sensing data analysis and interpretation workflows, 
as well as instrumental equipment to identify potential key features of Li-bearing pegmatites. 
 
Fieldwork commenced at Mt Peake in late 2021 with Australasian Metals and the CSIRO initially embarking 
on a detailed mapping and targeting exercise using a combination of ground-based surveying techniques and 
detailed satellite imagery to highlight potential lithium bearing zones. A total of 27 rock and soil samples 
were collected with assay results announced to ASX on 16 November 2021. Rock chip sample JC001 returned 
high-grade lithium mineralisation of up to 1.61% Li2O and 223ppm Ta within outcropping pegmatites. Sample 
JC001 was sampled from a pegmatite unit within a micaceous schist. There are greenish coarse-grained 
spodumene crystals with mica and feldspar identified in sample JC001. The Company’s plans for further 
geochemical sampling followed by a maiden drilling campaign. 
 
On 21 January 2022, the Company announced that it had enlisted Ultramag Geophysics to complete a Deep 
Ground Penetrating Radar (“DPGR”) survey over the defined exploration corridor covering the northwest and 
southeast side of the high grade sample in the surface (Figure 2). DGPR is a breakthrough state-of-the-art 
technique that is used to produce high-resolution images of the sub-surface up to 200m depth. 
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Directors’ Report (cont.) 

 

 
Figure 1: Mt Peake and Barrow Creek lithium project location in the Northern Arunta Pegmatite provinces of 

the Northern Territory (KM Frater, 2005) 
 

 
Figure 2: Location of Sample MP10127 at the northwest corner of EL32830. The interpreted pegmatite bodies 

in shallow depth by DGPR was coloured in orange. The Inserted map shows the soil sampling program area 
and rock chip locations. 
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Directors’ Report (cont.) 

 
Barrow Creek Lithium project, Northern Territory (90%) 
 
On 12 January 2022, the Company announced that it had acquired a 90% joint-venture interest in 5 
tenements covering ~880 km2 in the northern Arunta pegmatite province, Northern Territory (“Barrow Creek 
Lithium project”) (refer ASX announcement 12 January 2022 and 22 February 2022). 
 
Barrow Creek is located roughly 100 kms to the northeast of the Company’s Mt Peake Lithium project (Figure 
1). There are historical Ta-Sn mineral occurrence records across several tenements, and pegmatite rocks have 
been mapped, with regional geological mapping by previous explorers and government geologists (Figure 3). 
Importantly, the tenements are situated on privately-owned land, with good road and railway access.  
 

 

Figure 3: Location of Barrow Creek Lithium Project. The package shares a boundary with Core Lithium Limited 
and another lithium explorer (Lithium Plus Minerals Ltd). Pegmatite is mapped with 1:250K geological map, 

and Sn-Ta pegmatite occurrences have been reported.   
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Directors’ Report (cont.) 

 
Access to the majority of the project area from Barrow Creek is via the Stuart Highway to the north and then 
using the Ali Curung to Jarra Jarra track. Newmont constructed an access track from the Jarra Jarra to the 
Waldron’s Hill prospect in 2007. In 2008 Newmont constructed a series of north-south access tracks off the 
Waldron’s Hill track to allow better access to the region. Reliable fair-weather access to most individual sites 
is via a series of established pastoral and historical exploration gravel tracks.  
 
On 28 June 2022, the Company announced that it is continuing its partnership with CSIRO through the Kick-
Start research program, with $50K co-funding to research “Li exploration in the Mt Peake and Barrow Creek 
Pegmatite Field”. Australasian Metals and CSIRO agreed to continue their successful collaboration to further 
narrow down the search for Li-(Ta-Sn) bearing pegmatites. The research is especially focused on better 
understanding the occurrence of mafic rocks hosting LCT-pegmatites and possible genetic relationships 
between the maficity of the igneous country rocks and the Li-content and/or Li-host minerals.  
 
May Queen Gold project, Queensland (100%) 
 
The May Queen gold project comprises granted tenement Exploration Permits for Minerals EPM 19419 and 
adjacent application EPM 27746, located within the Brovinia goldfield in Queensland, approximately 225 km 
by road south-west of the nearest regional port at Bundaberg and 375 km by road from Brisbane (Figure 4). It 
covers free-hold land with no Native Title claim. 
 

 
Figure 4: May Queen project location 

 
The Company plans to conduct a geophysical survey in the targeted area at the May Queen gold project 
ahead of a follow-up drill program in late 2022.  
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Directors’ Report (cont.) 

 
Mt Clermont project, Queensland (100%) 
 
The Mt Clermont gold project lies within the Anakie Province of the Drummond Basin which is composed of a 
sequence of Devonian to Carboniferous volcanics and sediments in Central Queensland, approximately 60 km 
by road north-west of the town of Emerald. Over 6,700 m of historical drilling has been completed, showing 
potential for a high-grade polymetallic epithermal system. Future exploration will focus on exploring for 
further sulphide lenses along the major Retro fault system.   
 

 
Figure 5: Mt Clermont project tenement holding and location. 

The Capella gold project is located to the south of the Mt Clermont project, Central Queensland 
 
Capella Gold Project, Queensland (100%) 
 
On 7 June 2021, Australasian Metals announced that it had acquired a 100% interest in the Capella gold 
project (EPM 25956) from Cape Coal Pty Ltd. The transaction completed on 6 September 2021. The Capella 
gold project is strategically located around 10km south from the Group’s Mt Clermont polymetallic project 
(Figure 5). Through the acquisition, the Group’s land holding has increased by 50% in the highly prospective 
Clermont goldfield. The Capella gold project is situated on 100% exclusive land with no Native Title.    
 
During the period the Company announced that a ~2,500 m reverse circulation (RC) drilling program had 
commenced at the Mt Clermont and Capella projects. The RC drilling program focused on the Ayres Rock 
prospect at the Capella tenement and at the Retro Extended prospect within the Mt Clermont tenement. At 
the Ayres Rock prospect there is a 25 m2 outcrop of quartz-veined ignimbrite, sericite altered and crosscut by 
fine grained quartz veins displaying epithermal gold mineralisation textures. 
 
At the Retro extended prospect, data studies conducted by the Company have identified several targets with 
open potential for further mineralisation. Twelve (12) drill holes were drilled to test and verify earlier 
historical drilling where a potential resource occurs. The aim of the proposed drilling is to add QA/QC 
protocols and other criteria to give confidence to potentially support a JORC compliant resource estimation. 
The drilling was also designed to test these targets for extensions of mineralisation.   
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Directors’ Report (cont.) 

 
Material high-grade drilling intercepts from the RC drilling at Capella are summarised in Table 1 and shown in 
Figure 6. The full dataset of the program were presented in the Appendix 1 table in Company’s 
announcement of 26 July 2022. 

 
Table 1: Significant intersections from 2022 RC drill program 

Hole ID From(m) To (m) Interval (m) Au (g/t) 
CAR035 142.00 144.00 2.00 0.93 

CAR036 32.00 42.00 10.00 0.29 

including 36.00 37.00 1.00 1.34 

CAR036  45.00 71.00 26.00 3.88 

including 50.00 56.00 6.00 14.18 

including 50.00 52.00 2.00 33.40 

 59.00 62.00 3.00 3.89 

 78.00 79.00 1.00 9.75 

CAR037 110.00 114.00 4.00 1.98 

CAR038 60.00 61 1.00 1.55 

CAR039 108.00 111.00 3.00 2.02 

CAR040 No significant result 

CAR041 No significant result 

CAR042 No significant result 

CAR043 13.00 46.00 33.00 0.54 

including 25.00 29.00 4.00 0.77 

 38.00 45.00 7.00 1.15 

CAR044        No significant result 

CAR045 No significant result 

CAR046 43.00 80.00 37.00 0.36 

including 48.00 49.00 1.00 1.82 

 51.00 56.00 5.00 0.76 

 76.00 77.00 1.00 2.70 
 

 
Figure 6: Historical drilling data at Capella, with MMI soil anomaly on the map of magnetic base map (Impact 
Minerals, 2016). The latest 2022 drilling is highlighted by yellow boxes. 
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Directors’ Report (cont.) 
 
Fairview Project, Western Australia (100%) 
 
The Fairview gold project lies within the Pilbara Granite-Greenstone Complex in the northwest of Western 
Australia.  The exploration target is structurally similar to the Mt Clement deposit (less than 5 km to the 
south-east) and the Paulsens Gold Mine, operated by Northern Star Limited (ASX:NST) (around 30 km to the 
northwest). 
 
The Company has commenced initial fieldwork at the project, and in-house targeting exercises are well 
advanced.  
 
Annual Statement of Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves 
 
The Group does not have any Mineral Resources or Ore Reserves. 
 
Competent Persons Statement 
 
The information in this report that relates to Exploration Results is based on, and fairly represents, 
information and supporting documentation prepared by Dr Qingtao Zeng, Managing Director of Australasian 
Metals. Dr Zeng is a member of the Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy and he has sufficient 
experience which is relevant to the style of mineralisation and type of deposits under consideration and to 
the activity which has been undertaken to qualify as a Competent Person as defined in the 2012 Edition of 
the “Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves”. Dr Zeng 
consents to the inclusion in this release of the matters based on the information in the form and context in 
which they appear. Dr Zeng is a shareholder of Australasian Metals Limited. 
 
Significant Changes in the State of Affairs 
 
There were no significant changes in the state of affairs of the consolidated entity during the financial year, 
other than the matters which have been referred to in the “Review of Operations” section of the report. 
 
Dividends Paid or Recommended 
 
The Group did not pay any dividend during the financial year ended 30 June 2022 and no dividend is 
recommended. 
 
Options and Rights 
 
At the date of this report, the unissued ordinary shares of the Group under options are as follows: 
 

Grant Date Date of Expiry Exercise Price Number under Option 
11/12/2020 31/01/2023 $0.30 1,000,000 
27/01/2021 05/05/2023 $0.30 2,000,000 
29/01/2021 05/05/2023 $0.30 1,000,000 
22/02/2021 05/05/2023 $0.30 2,000,000 
 

1,300,000 performance rights with expiry date of 30 November 2022 and 1,300,000 performance rights with 
expiry date of 31 May 2023 were granted during the year ended 30 June 2022 for which will convert into 
shares upon meeting certain stated hurdles (i.e. discovery of commercial grade lithium mineralisation(> 1.0% 
Li 20) confirmed by the Group’s first drilling program and the volume weighted average price of the Group’s 
shares being equal to or greater than $1 for 20 trading days for series a and achieving a JORC or NI 43-101 
compliant resource of certain grades for series b). The fair value of the performance rights are outlined in the 
accompanying remuneration report. 
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Directors’ Report (cont.) 
 
As the directors were not able to reliably estimate nor predict whether the achievement of the above named 
non-market based milestones was probable at grant date, no value was recorded in the Consolidated 
Statement of Financial Performance and position. 
 
Options and performance rights holders do not have any rights to participate in any issues of shares or other 
interests of the Group or any other entity.  
 
There have been no options granted over unissued shares or interests of any controlled entity within the 
Group since the end of the financial period other than detailed above.  
 
During the year ended 30 June 2022, 500,000 shares were issued on meeting the conditions attached to  
performance rights granted to Dr Qingtao Zeng. The fair value was determined to be $81,860. 
 
No person entitled to exercise an option had or has any right by virtue of the option to participate in any 
share issue of any other body corporate.  
 
The options and performance rights granted during the year ended 30 June 2022 have been brought to 
account in these financial statements in the share option reserve. 
 
Events Subsequent to the End of the Financial Period 
 
No matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year which significantly affected or 
may significantly affect the operations of the Group, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of 
the Group in future financial years. 
 
Likely Developments and Expected Results of Operations 
 
Likely developments, future prospects and business strategies of the operations of the Group and the 
expected results of those operations, not otherwise disclosed in this report, have not been included as the 
Directors believe that the inclusion of such information would be likely to result in unreasonable prejudice to 
the Group. 
 
Environmental Regulations 
 
The Group is not subject to any significant environmental regulation under Australian Commonwealth or 
State Law as it is still in exploration stage. 
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Directors’ Report (cont.) 
 
Information Relating to Directors and Company Secretary 
 
Dr Qingtao Zeng 
Managing Director 
 
Dr Zeng completed a PhD in geology at the Centre of Exploration Targeting (CET) of University of Western 
Australia in 2013. He was engaged as a consulting geologist, principally working with Eldorado Gold Limited 
CSA Global China and Australia and has a range of geological and commercial specialties.  Since 2015, Dr Zeng 
has been extensively involved in the lithium exploration and corporate transactions through his strong 
network of contacts throughout Asia.  Dr Zeng has published several academic papers on orogenic  
gold or structure control gold geological studies and is a member of AusIMM and Society of Economic 
Geologist (SEG).  
 
Interest in Shares, Options and Performance Rights 
6,850,000 ordinary shares 
2,000,000 options 
4,800,000 performance rights 
 
Directorships held in other listed entities during the three years before the end of the financial year 
Oceana Lithium Limited (ASX: OCN)  April 2022 – present 
Winsome Resources Limited (ASX: WR1)  November 2021 – present 
MetalsTech Limited (ASX: MTC)   June 2019 – present 
Kodal Minerals (LON: KOD)   November 2017 – present  
 
Graeme Fraser 
Non-Executive Director 
 
Mr Graeme Fraser holds a BSc (Hons) from the University of Melbourne and since graduation has gained 20 
years of international experience in the mining industry with a strong focus on gold.  Graeme has been a 
member of AusIMM.  
 
Having held a combination of exploration, mine production and corporate positions, Graeme has gained a 
well-rounded and extensive knowledge of multiple geological styles and the mining industry in general.  
 
As Exploration Manager for Eldorado Gold at their Tanjianshan Project in China, Graeme led a small team of 
local staff to the discovery of the “323 zone”, a previously unknown area of mineralisation. The 323 zone is 
still being subject to resource definition drilling today by the new owners (Beijing Yintai group) and is proving 
to be a world class deposit.  
 
Interest in Shares and Options 
150,000 ordinary shares 
500,000 options 
300,000 performance rights 
 
Directorships held in other listed entities during the three years before the end of the financial year 
None 
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Directors’ Report (cont.) 
 
Rory McGoldrick 
Non-executive Chairman 
 
Rory McGoldrick is a qualified lawyer and holds a Bachelor of Laws from the University of Western Australia.  
Mr McGoldrick has advised public companies on a wide range of corporate matters for over 15 years, and has 
broad experience in Corporations Act and ASX Listing Rules compliance, corporate governance matters, 
capital raising and acquisitions.   
 
Mr McGoldrick has broad experience in the energy and resources sector, working on a range of corporate 
transactions as a lawyer and as an advisor. He assisted with the early stage development of a number of 
mining and energy projects within Europe since 2010. He holds board positions for a number of unlisted 
companies in the energy sector.  
 
Interest in Shares and Options 
400,000 ordinary shares 
500,000 options 
300,000 performance rights 
 
Directorships held in other listed entities during the three years before the end of the financial year 
None 
 
Daniel Smith 
Joint Company Secretary 
 
Mr Smith has 15 years’ experience in financial markets, including 12 years’ experience with listing rules 
compliance and corporate governance. He is a fellow member of the Governance Institute of Australia and 
holds a Bachelor of Arts in International Relations from Curtin University.   
 
Mr Smith acts as company secretary for numerous ASX listed companies. 
 
Nicholas Ong 
Joint Company Secretary 
  
Mr Ong brings 18 years’ experience in IPOs, listing rules compliance and corporate governance. He is a fellow 
member of the Governance Institute of Australia and holds a Bachelor of Commerce and a Master of 
Business Administration from the University of Western Australia.   
 
Mr Ong works as company secretary for numerous ASX listed companies.  
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Directors’ Report (cont.) 
 
Meetings of Directors & Board Resolutions  
 
During the financial year, 1 meeting of Directors were held, and 8 Board Resolutions were passed. 
Attendance by each Director during the year was as follows: 
 

 Board Meetings  

 
Number eligible to 

attend 
Number attended Board Resolutions 

Dr Qingtao Zeng 1 1 7 
Graeme Fraser 1 1 8 
Rory McGoldrick 1 1 8 

 
No Separate audit and risk committee and nomination and remuneration committee meetings were held. 
Issues relating to audit and risk committee and nomination and remuneration and committee were discussed 
at the board meetings. 
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Directors’ Report (cont.) 
 
Remuneration Report (audited) 
 
The remuneration report details the key management personnel remuneration arrangements for the 
consolidated entity, in accordance with the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and its Regulations. 
Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and 
controlling the activities of the entity, directly or indirectly, including all directors. 
 
Remuneration Policy 
The remuneration policy of the Group has been designed to align key management personnel (KMP) 
objectives with shareholder and business objectives by providing a fixed remuneration component and 
offering specific long-term incentives based on key performance areas affecting the Group’s financial results. 
The Board of the Group believes the remuneration policy to be appropriate and effective in its ability to 
attract and retain high-quality KMP to run and manage the Group, as well as create goal congruence 
between Directors, executives and shareholders.  
 
For the purposes of this report, KMP comprises executive and non-executive Directors of the Group, as 
follows:  
 
Rory McGoldrick – Non-Executive Chairman 
Graeme Fraser – Non-Executive Director 
Dr Qingtao Zeng – Managing Director  
 
The Board’s policy for determining the nature and amount of remuneration for KMP of the Group is based on 
the following:  
 

• The remuneration policy is to be developed and approved by the Board after professional advice, if 
required, is sought from independent external consultants.  

• All KMP receive a base salary (which is based on factors such as length of service and experience), 
superannuation, fringe benefits and performance incentives.  

• Performance incentives are generally only paid once predetermined key performance indicators 
(KPI’s) have been met.  

• Incentives paid in the form of options or rights are intended to align the interests of the KMP and 
Group with those of the shareholders. In this regard, KMP are prohibited from limiting risk attached 
to those instruments by use of derivatives or other means.  

• The Board reviews KMP packages annually by reference to the Group’s performance, executive 
performance and comparable information from industry sectors.  

 
In accordance with best practice corporate governance, the structure of non-executive director and 
executive director remuneration is separate. 
 
The performance of KMP is measured against criteria agreed generally annually with each executive and is 
based predominantly on the forecast growth of shareholders’ value or mining resources under management. 
All bonuses and incentives must be linked to predetermined performance criteria. The Board may, however, 
exercise its discretion in relation to approving incentives, bonuses and options, and can recommend changes 
at any time. Any change must be justified by reference to measurable performance criteria. The policy is 
designed to attract the highest calibre of executives and reward them for performance results leading to 
long-term growth in shareholder wealth.  
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Directors’ Report (cont.) 
 
Non-executive Director Remuneration 
The Board’s policy is to remunerate non-executive Directors at market rates for time, commitment and 
responsibilities. The Board determines payments to the non-executive Directors and reviews their 
remuneration annually, based on market practice, duties and accountability. Independent external advice is 
sought when required. The current amount has been set at an amount not to exceed $200,000 per annum. 
The maximum aggregate amount of fees that can be paid to non-executive Directors is subject to approval by 
shareholders at general meeting.  
 
KMP are also entitled and encouraged to participate in the employee share and option arrangements to align 
Directors’ interests with shareholders’ interests.  
 
Options granted under the arrangement do not carry dividend or voting rights. Each option is entitled to be 
converted into one ordinary share once the interim or final financial report has been disclosed to the public 
and is measured using the Black–Scholes and other appropriate valuation approach. 
 
Executive Remuneration  
The executive remuneration and reward framework has four components: 
 

• base pay and non-monetary benefits 

• short-term performance incentives 

• share-based payments 

• other remuneration such as superannuation and long service leave 
 
The combination of these comprises the executive's total remuneration. 
 
Fixed remuneration, consisting of base salary, superannuation and non-monetary benefits, are reviewed 
annually by the Board based on individual and the overall performance of the consolidated entity. 
 
Executives may receive their fixed remuneration in the form of cash or other fringe benefits (for example 
motor vehicle benefits) where it does not create any additional costs to the consolidated entity and provides 
additional value to the executive. 
 
Performance-based Remuneration  
KPI’s are set annually, with a certain level of consultation with KMP. The measures are specifically tailored to 
the area each individual is involved in and has a level of control over. The KPI’s target areas the Board 
believes hold greater potential for Group expansion and shareholder value, covering financial and non-
financial as well as short and long-term goals. The level set for each KPI is based on budgeted figures for the 
Group and respective industry standards.  
 
The short-term incentives (STI) program is designed to align the Group’s target with the performance hurdles 
of the executives. 
 
Performance in relation to the KPI’s is assessed either six monthly or annually, with bonuses being awarded 
depending on the number and deemed difficulty of the KPI’s achieved. Following the assessment, the KPI’s 
are reviewed by the Board in light of the desired and actual outcomes, and their efficiency is assessed in 
relation to the Group’s goals and shareholder wealth, before the KPI’s are set for the following period.  
 
In determining whether or not a KPI has been achieved, the Group bases the assessment on audited figures; 
however, where the KPI involves comparison of the Group, or a division within the Group, to the market, 
independent reports are obtained from organisations such as Standard & Poor’s. 
 

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



AUSTRALASIAN METALS LIMITED (FORMERLY AUSTRALASIAN GOLD LIMITED) ACN 625 744 907 

 

 

Page 20 

 

Directors’ Report (cont.) 
 
The long-term incentives ('LTI') include long service leave and share-based payments. Options and 
performance rights are awarded to executives. The Board reviewed the long-term equity-linked performance 
incentives specifically for executives during the year ended 30 June 2022. 
 
Voting and comments made at the company's 2021 Annual General Meeting ('AGM')  
At the 2021 AGM, 91% of the votes received supported the adoption of the remuneration report for the year 
ended 30 June 2021. The company did not receive any specific feedback at the AGM regarding its 
remuneration practices.  
 
Use of remuneration consultants 
During the financial year ended 30 June 2022, the group did not engage the services of such consultants. 
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Directors’ Report (cont.) 
 
Service Agreements 
Remuneration and other terms of employment for key management personnel are formalised in service 
agreements. Details of these agreements are as follows: 
 
Name: Dr Qingtao Zeng 
Title: Managing Director 
Agreement commenced: 31 October 2020 
Term of agreement: 2 years from the Group listing on ASX or such later period the parties agree 
Details: $10,000 per month prior to the Group listing on ASX 

$20,000 per month after the Group listing on ASX 
  
Name: Dr Qingtao Zeng 
Title: Managing Director 
Agreement commenced: 1 January 2022 
Term of agreement: The Executive’s employment commenced on the Commencement Date and will 

continue unless the employment is terminated. The Company can terminate the 
agreement on 6 months’ notice. The Executive can terminate the agreement on 3 
months’ notice.  

Details: The Company will pay the Executive a salary of $24,000 per month (exclusive of  
superannuation) 

 
Name: Rory McGoldrick 
Title: Non-Executive Chairman 
Agreement commenced: 10 August 2020 
Term of agreement: Ongoing 
Details: $40,000 per annum from 1 January 2021 
 
Name: Graeme Fraser 
Title: Non-Executive Director 
Agreement commenced: 10 August 2020 
Term of agreement: Ongoing 
Details: $40,000 per annum from 1 January 2021 

 
Key management personnel have no entitlement to termination payments in the event of removal for 
misconduct. The terms and conditions of all KMP are formalised in contracts of appointment. 
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Directors’ Report (cont.) 
 
Details of Remuneration 
 
Details of the remuneration of key management personnel of the Group are set out in the following tables. 
 

 Short-term benefits 

Post-
employment 

benefits 
Long-term 

benefits Share-based payments  

 
Cash salary  

and fees Cash bonus Non-monetary Superannuation 
Long service 

leave 
Equity-settled 

shares 
Equity-settled 
options/rights Total 

2022 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 

         

Executive Directors         

Dr Qingtao Zeng* 264,000 100,000 10,992 11,784 - - - 386,776 

         

Non-executive Directors         

Rory McGoldrick** 50,796 - - - - - - 50,796 

Graeme Fraser*** 106,064 - - - - - - 106,064 

         

Total 420,860 100,000 10,992 11,784 - - - 543,636 

 
*Represents remuneration from 1 July 2021 to 30 June 2022 
**Represents remuneration from 1 July 2021 to 30 June 2022 plus additional consulting fee of $10,796 
***Represents remuneration from 1 July 2021 to 30 June 2022 plus additional consulting fee of $66,064 

 

 Short-term benefits 

Post-
employment 

benefits 
Long-term 

benefits Share-based payments  

 
Cash salary  

and fees Cash bonus Non- monetary Superannuation 
Long service 

leave 
Equity-settled 

shares 
Equity-settled 
options/rights Total 

2021 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 

         

Executive Directors         

Dr Qingtao Zeng* 140,000 - - - - 169,500 330,906 640,406 

         

Non-executive Directors         

Rory McGoldrick** 26,598 - - - - 30,000 42,262 98,860 

Graeme Fraser*** 28,998 - - - - 30,000 42,262 101,260 

         

Total 195,596 - - - - 229,500 415,430 840,526 

 
*Represents remuneration from 1 October 2020 to 30 June 2021 
**Represents remuneration from 1 January 2021 to 30 June 2021 plus additional consulting fee of $6,600 
***Represents remuneration from 1 January 2021 to 30 June 2021 plus additional consulting fee of $9,000 

 
The proportion of remuneration linked to performance and the fixed proportion are as follows: 
 
 Fixed remuneration At risk STI At risk LIT 
 % % % 
Name 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 

Dr Qingtao Zeng 74.15 22.00 25.85 - - 78.00 
Rory McGoldrick 100.00 27.50 - - - 72.50 
Graeme Fraser 100.00 28.70 - - - 71.30 

 
Share-based compensation 
 
Issue of shares 
No share was issued to the key management personnel as part of compensation during the year ended 30 
June 2022. 
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Directors’ Report (cont.) 
 
Options 
No option was granted to the key management personnel as part of compensation during the year ended 30 
June 2022. 
 
Performance Rights 
The terms and conditions of each grant of performance rights over ordinary shares affecting remuneration of 
the key management personnel in this financial year or future reporting years are as follows: 
 
 Number of     
 performance rights   Fair value/right  
2022 granted Grant date Expiry date at grant date Vesting Conditions 

Dr Qingtao Zeng 900,000 13 December 2021 30 November 2022 0.2066 

Performance rights will convert into 
Shares upon the discovery of 
commercial grade lithium 
mineralisation (>1.0% Li 20) and the 
volume weighted average price of the 
Company’s Shares being equal to or 
greater than $1 (over 20 consecutive 
trading days on which the Shares 
have actually traded). 

Dr Qingtao Zeng 900,000 13 December 2021 31 May 2023 0.47 

Performance rights will convert into 
Shares upon the Company achieving a 
JORC or NI 43-101 Compliant 
Resource of >1,500,000 t (cut-off 
grade > 0.8% Li 20) at any of its 
projects. 

Rory McGoldrick 150,000 13 December 2021 30 November 2022 0.2066 

Performance rights will convert into 
Shares upon the discovery of 
commercial grade lithium 
mineralisation (>1.0% Li 20) and the 
volume weighted average price of the 
Company’s Shares being equal to or 
greater than $1  (over 20 consecutive 
trading days on which the Shares 
have actually traded). 

Rory McGoldrick 150,000 13 December 2021 31 May 2023 0.47 

Performance rights will convert into 
Shares upon the Company achieving a 
JORC or NI 43-101 Compliant 
Resource of >1,500,000 t (cut-off 
grade > 0.8% Li 20) at any of its 
projects. 

Graeme Fraser 150,000 13 December 2021 30 November 2022 0.2066 

Performance rights will convert into 
Shares upon the discovery of 
commercial grade lithium 
mineralisation (>1.0% Li 20) and the 
volume weighted average price of the 
Company’s Shares being equal to or 
greater than $1  (over 20 consecutive 
trading days on which the Shares 
have actually traded). 

Graeme Fraser 150,000 13 December 2021 31 May 2023 0.47 

Performance rights will convert into 
Shares upon the Company achieving a 
JORC or NI 43-101 Compliant 
Resource of >1,500,000 t (cut-off 
grade > 0.8% Li 20) at any of its 
projects. 

 2,400,000     
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Directors’ Report (cont.) 
 
Performance rights granted carry no dividend or voting rights. 
 
As the directors were not able to reliably estimate nor predict whether the achievement of the above named 
non-market based milestones was probable at grant date, no value was recorded in the Consolidated 
Statement of Financial Performance and position. 
 
Additional information 
 
The information of the Group for the five years to 30 June 2022 are summarised below: 
 

 2022 2021 2020 2019* 2018 
 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 
      

Income/revenue 51 26 - - - 

EBITDA (971) (954) (36) (437) - 

EBIT (992) (966) (61) (437) - 

Loss after tax (998) (967) (64) (437) - 

 
* Period of 14 months 

 
The factors that are considered to affect total shareholders return ('TSR') are summarised below: 
 

 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 
      

Share price at financial year end ($) 0.200 0.145 - - - 

Total dividends declared (cents per share) - - - - - 

Basic earnings per share (cents per share) (1.98) (5.95) (1.07) - - 

 
KMP Shareholdings 
 
The number of ordinary shares in the Group held by each KMP and their related parties of the Group during 
the financial year and up to the date of this financial report is as follows: 
 

 

Balance at 
beginning of the 

year 

Granted as 
remuneration 

during the year 

Issued on meeting 
performance 

hurdles of rights 
during the year Other 

Balance at end of 
the year 

Issued after 
reporting period 

Balance at signing 
date of this report 

        

Executive Directors        

Dr Qingtao Zeng 6,350,000 - 500,000 - 6,850,000 - 6,850,000 

        

Non-executive Directors        

Rory McGoldrick 400,000 - - - 400,000 - 400,000 

Graeme Fraser 150,000 - - - 150,000 - 150,000 

        

Total 6,900,000 - 500,000 - 7,400,000 - 7,400,000 
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Directors’ Report (cont.) 
 
The number of options in the Group held by each KMP and their related parties of the Group during the 
financial year and up to the date of this financial report is as follows: 
 

 

Balance at 
beginning of the 

year 

Granted as 
remuneration 

during the year 
Other changes 
during the year 

Balance at end of 
the year 

Issued after 
reporting period 

Balance at signing 
date of this report 

       

Executive Directors       

Dr Qingtao Zeng 2,000,000 - - 2,000,000 - 2,000,000 

       

Non-executive Directors       

Rory McGoldrick 500,000 - - 500,000 - 500,000 

Graeme Fraser 500,000 - - 500,000 - 500,000 

       

Total 3,000,000 - - 3,000,000 - 3,000,000 

 
The number of performance rights in the Group held by each KMP and their related parties of the Group 
during the financial year and up to the date of this financial report is as follows: 
 

 

Balance at 
beginning of the 

year 

Granted as 
remuneration 

during the year 

Converted into 
shares on meeting 

hurdle 
Balance at end of 

the year 
Issued after 

reporting period 
Balance at signing 
date of this report 

       

Executive Directors       

Dr Qingtao Zeng 3,500,000 1,800,000 (500,000) 4,800,000 - 4,800,000 

       

Non-executive Directors       

Rory McGoldrick - 300,000 - 300,000 - 300,000 

Graeme Fraser - 300,000 - 300,000 - 300,000 

       

Total 3,500,000 2,400,000 (500,000) 5,400,000 - 5,400,000 

 
There have been no transactions involving equity instruments apart from those described in the tables above 
relating to options, rights and shareholdings. 
 
Other Transactions with KMP and/or their Related Parties 
 
During the year, the Group had a lease agreement with Woodsouth Asset Management which is an entity 
controlled by a close family member of Dr Qingtao Zeng. Total amount paid/payable to Woodsouth Asset 
Management during the year was $16,698. The amount owing to the related party was $13,321 as at 30 June 
2022 (2021: $1,210).  
 
During the year, Graeme Fraser’s director and consulting fees of $106,064 are paid to a company Wilsca Pty 
Ltd which is controlled by him. Rory McGoldrick’s director and consulting fees of $15,932 are paid to a 
company Petra Cotes Pty Ltd which is controlled by him. 
 
All transactions were made on normal commercial terms and conditions. 
 
 

- End of Remuneration Report - 
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Directors’ Report (cont.) 
 
Indemnification of Officers and Auditors 
 
During the year, the Group maintained an insurance policy which indemnifies the Directors and Officers in 
respect of any liability incurred in connection with the performance of their duties as Directors and Officers 
of the Group to the extent permitted by the Corporations Act 2001. During the financial year, the Group paid 
premiums of $27,750. 
 
The Group has not, during or since the end of the financial year, indemnified or agreed to indemnify the 
auditor of the Group or any related entity against a liability incurred by the auditor. During the financial year, 
the Group has not paid a premium in respect of a contract to insure the auditor of the Group or any related 
entity. 
 
Proceedings on Behalf of the Group 
 
No person has applied for leave of court to bring proceedings on behalf of the Group or intervene in any 
proceedings to which the Group is a party for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the Group for 
all or any part of those proceedings. The Group was not a party to any such proceedings during the financial 
year. 
 
Non-audit Services 
 
The Board of Directors is satisfied that the provision of non-audit services during the period is compatible 
with the general standard of independence for auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 2001. The Directors 
are satisfied that the services disclosed below did not compromise the external auditor’s independence for 
the following reasons:  
 

- all non-audit services are reviewed and approved prior to commencement to ensure they do not 
adversely affect the integrity and objectivity of the auditor; and  

- the nature of the services provided does not compromise the general principles relating to auditor 
independence in accordance with APES 110:  Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants set by the 
Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board.  

 
Rounding of Amounts 
 
The Group is of a kind referred to in Corporations Instrument 2016/191, issued by the Australian Securities 
and Investments Commission, relating to 'rounding-off'. Amounts in this report have been rounded off in 
accordance with that Corporations Instrument to the nearest dollars. 
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Directors’ Report (cont.) 
 
Auditor’s Independence Declaration 
 
A copy of the auditor's independence declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 
2001 is set out immediately after this directors' report. 
 
This report is made in accordance with a resolution of directors, pursuant to section 298(2)(a) of the 
Corporations Act 2001. 
 
On behalf of the directors 
 
 

 
_____________________ 
Dr Qingtao Zeng 
Managing Director 
 
Dated this 28th day of September 2022 
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Auditor’s independence declaration  
 
As lead auditor for the audit of the financial report of Australasian Metals Limited, formerly  
Australasian Gold Limited (“the company”) and its controlled entity (“the Group”) for the year 
ended 30 June 2022, I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been no 
contraventions of: 
 
(a) the auditor independence requirements as set out in the Corporations Act 2001 in relation 

to the audit; and 
 
(b) any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 
 
This declaration is in relation to the Company and the entity it controlled during the year. 
 

  
HLB Mann Judd 
Chartered Accountants 

Jude Lau 
Partner 

 
Melbourne 
28 September 2022 
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   2022 2021 
 Note $ $ 

    

Other income  50,000 25,962 

Other expenses 2 (1,042,600) (991,957) 

  (992,600) (965,995) 

Finance income 3 1,145 119 

Finance costs 3 (6,447) (1,073) 

Loss before income tax  (997,902) (966,949) 

Income tax benefit 4 - - 

Loss for the year after income tax  (997,902) (966,949) 

Total other comprehensive income  - - 

Total comprehensive (loss) for the year  (997,902) (966,949) 

 
 

Earnings per share    

From continuing operations    

Basic earnings per share (cents) 21 (1.98) (5.95) 

Diluted earnings per share (cents) 21 (1.98) (5.95) 
 
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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Note 

2022 2021 

$ $ 
    

ASSETS    

Current assets    

Cash and cash equivalents 5 5,148,495 5,243,265 

Trade and other receivables 6 85,134 51,736 

Prepayment  32,337 42,185 

Total current assets  5,265,966 5,337,186 
    

Non-current assets    

Exploration and evaluation assets 8 2,398,805 812,960 

Property, plant & equipment  18,497 - 

Right-of-use assets 7 38,474 5,115 

Total non-current assets  2,455,776 818,075 

Total assets  7,721,742 6,155,261 
    

LIABILITIES    

Current liabilities    

Trade and other payables 9 233,012 298,806 

Employee benefits 10 10,992 - 

Lease liabilities 11 15,648 5,957 

Total current liabilities  259,652 304,763 
    

Non-current liabilities    

Lease liabilities 11 24,439 - 

Total non-current liabilities  24,439 - 

Total liabilities  284,091 304,763 
    

Net assets  7,437,651 5,850,498 
    

EQUITY    

Issued capital 12 9,316,100 6,649,185 

Share option reserve 13 587,140 669,000 

Accumulated losses  (2,465,589) (1,467,687) 

Total equity  7,437,651 5,850,498 

 
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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 ISSUED 

CAPITAL 
SHARE OPTION 

RESERVE 
ACCUMULATED 

LOSSES TOTAL 
Note $ $ $ $ 

      

Balance at 1 July 2020  594,555 - (500,738) 93,817 

      

Total comprehensive income      

Total profit or (loss)  - - (966,949) (966,949) 

Other comprehensive income  - - - - 

Total comprehensive income  - - (966,949) (966,949) 

      
Transactions with members in their 
capacity as owners: 

 
    

Issuance of share capital, net of costs 12 6,054,630 - - 6,054,630 

Share based payment 13 - 669,000 - 669,000 

Total transactions with owners  6,054,630 669,000 - 6,723,630 

      

Balance at 30 June 2021  6,649,185 669,000 (1,467,687) 5,850,498 
      

Total comprehensive income      

Total profit or (loss)  - - (997,902) (997,902) 

Other comprehensive income  - - - - 

Total comprehensive income  - - (997,902) (997,902) 
      

Transactions with members in their 
capacity as owners: 

     

Issuance of share capital, net of costs 12 2,585,055 - - 2,585,055 

Issuance of performance share 13 81,860 (81,860) - - 

Total transactions with owners  2,666,915 (81,860) - 2,585,055 
      

Balance at 30 June 2022  9,316,100 587,140 (2,465,589) 7,437,651 

 
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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Note 

2022 2021 

$ $ 

    

Cash flows from operating activities    

Interest income received  654 315 

Grants received  50,000 - 

Payments to suppliers and employees  (974,580) (329,533) 

Finance costs  (6,447) - 

Net cash (used in) by operating activities 20 (930,373) (329,218) 
    

Cash flows from investing activities    

Payments for exploration expenditure  (1,480,845) (181,801) 

Purchases of property, plant & equipment  (23,209) - 

Net cash (used in) by investing activities  (1,504,054) (181,801) 

    

Cash flow from financing activities    

Proceeds from issuance of shares  2,500,000 5,812,988 

Payments for capital raising costs  (145,460) (208,773) 

Repayments of leasing liabilities  (14,883) (22,460) 

Net cash provided by financing activities  2,339,657 5,581,755 
    

Net (decrease)/increase in cash held  (94,770) 5,070,736 

Cash at the beginning of the year  5,243,265 172,529 

Cash at the end of the year 5 5,148,495 5,243,265 

 
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements are set out below. These 
policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. 
 
New or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations adopted 
The consolidated entity has adopted all of the new or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued 
by the Australian Accounting Standards Board ('AASB') that are mandatory for the current reporting period. 
 
Any new or amended Accounting Standards or Interpretations that are not yet mandatory have not been early 
adopted. 
 
The following Accounting Standards and Interpretations are most relevant to the consolidated entity: 
 
a) Basis of Preparation 

 
These general-purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting 
Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board ('AASB') and the 
Corporations Act 2001, as appropriate for for-profit oriented entities.  
 
These financial statements also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board (‘IASB’).  
 
The Australasian Metals Limited is a for-profit entity for financial reporting purposes under Australian 
Accounting Standards.  Material accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements 
are presented below and have been consistently applied unless stated otherwise. 
 
Except for cash flow information, the financial statements have been prepared on an accrual basis and are   
based on historical costs, modified, where applicable, by the measurement at fair value of selected non- 
current assets, financial assets, and financial liabilities. 

 
b) Principles of consolidation 

 
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities of all subsidiaries of Australasian 
Metals Limited as at 30 June 2022 and the results of all subsidiaries for the year then ended. Australasian 
Metals Limited and its subsidiaries together are referred to in these financial statements as the 'consolidated 
entity'. 
 
Subsidiaries are all those entities over which the consolidated entity has control. The consolidated entity 
controls an entity when the consolidated entity is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its 
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power to direct the 
activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to 
the consolidated entity. They are de-consolidated from the date that control ceases. 
 
Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between entities in the 
consolidated entity are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides 
evidence of the impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed 
where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the consolidated entity. 
Where the consolidated entity loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the assets including goodwill, 
liabilities and non-controlling interest in the subsidiary together with any cumulative translation differences 
recognised in equity. The consolidated entity recognises the fair value of the consideration received and the 
fair value of any investment retained together with any gain or loss in profit or loss. 
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c) Revenue and income 
 
Interest 
Interest revenue is recognised using the effective interest rate method, which, for floating rate financial 
assets, is the rate inherent in the instrument. All revenue is stated net of the amount of goods and services 
tax (GST). 
 
Government Grant 
Government grants relating to costs are deferred and recognised in profit or loss over the period necessary 
to match them with the costs that they are intended to compensate. 

 
d) Income tax 

 
The income tax expense or benefit for the period is the tax payable on that period's taxable income based on 
the applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction, adjusted by the changes in deferred tax assets and 
liabilities attributable to temporary differences, unused tax losses and the adjustment recognised for prior 
periods, where applicable. 

 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for temporary differences at the tax rates expected to be 
applied when the assets are recovered or liabilities are settled, based on those tax rates that are enacted or 
substantively enacted, except for: 

 
• When the deferred income tax asset or liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an 

asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and that, at the time of the 
transaction, affects neither the accounting nor taxable profits; or 

• When the taxable temporary difference is associated with interests in subsidiaries, associates or joint 
ventures, and the timing of the reversal can be controlled, and it is probable that the temporary 
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

 
Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is 
probable that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses. 
 
The carrying amount of recognised and unrecognised deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting 
date. Deferred tax assets recognised are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that future 
taxable profits will be available for the carrying amount to be recovered. Previously unrecognised deferred 
tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that there are future taxable profits available to 
recover the asset. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only where there is a legally enforceable right to offset current 
tax assets against current tax liabilities and deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities; and they relate 
to the same taxable authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend to 
settle simultaneously. 
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e) Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits available on demand with banks, other short-term 
highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less, and bank overdrafts. Bank 
overdrafts are reported within borrowings in current liabilities on the consolidated statement of financial 
position. 
 

f) Trade and other receivables 
 
Trade receivables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method, less any allowance for expected credit losses. Trade receivables are generally 
due for settlement within 30 days. 
 
The consolidated entity has applied the simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses, which uses 
a lifetime expected loss allowance. To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables have been 
grouped based on days overdue. 
 
Other receivables are recognised at amortised cost, less any allowance for expected credit losses. 

 
g) Financial Instruments 

 
Initial recognition and measurement 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions to the instrument. For financial assets, this is the date that the Group commits itself to either the 
purchase or sale of the asset (i.e., trade date accounting is adopted). 
 
Financial instruments (except for trade receivables) are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs, 
except where the instrument is classified "at fair value through profit or loss", in which case transaction costs 
are expensed to profit or loss immediately. Where available, quoted prices in an active market are used to 
determine fair value. In other circumstances, valuation techniques are adopted. 
 
Trade receivables are initially measured at the transaction price if the trade receivables do not contain a 
significant financing component or if the practical expedient was applied as specified in AASB 15.63. 
 
Classification and subsequent measurement 
 
Financial liabilities 
Financial instruments are subsequently measured at: 

• amortised cost; or 

• fair value through profit or loss. 
 
A financial liability is measured at fair value through profit and loss if the financial liability is: 

• a contingent consideration of an acquirer in a business combination to which AASB 3: Business 
Combinations applies; 

• held for trading; or 

• initially designated as at fair value through profit or loss. 
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All other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method. 
 
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of 
allocating interest expense in profit or loss over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the internal 
rate of return of the financial asset or liability. That is, it is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated 
future cash flows through the expected life of the instrument to the net carrying amount at initial 
recognition. 
 
A financial liability is held for trading if: 
 

• it is incurred for the purpose of repurchasing or repaying in the near term; 

• part of a portfolio where there is an actual pattern of short-term profit taking; or 

• a derivative financial instrument (except for a derivative that is in a financial guarantee contract or a 
derivative that is in an effective hedging relationships). 

 
Any gains or losses arising on changes in fair value are recognised in profit or loss to the extent that they are 
not part of a designated hedging relationship are recognised in profit or loss. 
 
The change in fair value of the financial liability attributable to changes in the issuer's credit risk is taken to 
other comprehensive income and are not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss. Instead, they are 
transferred to retained earnings upon derecognition of the financial liability. If taking the change in credit 
risk in other comprehensive income enlarges or creates an accounting mismatch, then these gains or losses 
should be taken to profit or loss rather than other comprehensive income. 
 
A financial liability cannot be reclassified. 
 
Financial assets 
 
Financial assets are subsequently measured at: 

• amortised cost; 

• fair value through other comprehensive income; or 

• fair value through profit or loss.  
 
Measurement is on the basis of two primary criteria: 

• the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset; and 

• the business model for managing the financial assets. 
 

A financial asset that meets the following conditions is subsequently measured at amortised cost: 

• the financial asset is managed solely to collect contractual cash flows; and 

• the contractual terms within the financial asset give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of 
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding on specified dates. 

 
A financial asset that meets the following conditions is subsequently measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income: 

• the contractual terms within the financial asset give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of 
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding on specified dates; 

• the business model for managing the financial assets comprises both contractual cash flows 
collection and the selling of the financial asset. 

 
By default, all other financial assets that do not meet the measurement conditions of amortised cost and fair 
value through other comprehensive income are subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss. 
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The Group initially designates a financial instrument as measured at fair value through profit or loss if: 

• it eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency (often referred to 
as "accounting mismatch") that would otherwise arise from measuring assets or liabilities or 
recognising the gains and losses on them on different bases; 

• it is in accordance with the documented risk management or investment strategy, and information 
about the groupings was documented appropriately, so that the performance of the financial liability 
that was part of a group of financial liabilities or financial assets can be managed and evaluated 
consistently on a fair value basis; 

• it is a hybrid contract that contains an embedded derivative that significantly modifies the cash flows 
otherwise required by the contract. 
 

The initial designation of the financial instruments to measure at fair value through profit or loss is a one- 
time option on initial classification and is irrevocable until the financial asset is derecognised. 
 
Equity instruments 
 
At initial recognition, as long as the equity instrument is not held for trading and not a contingent 
consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to which AASB 3: Business Combinations 
applies, the Group made an irrevocable election to measure any subsequent changes in fair value of the 
equity instruments in other comprehensive income, while the dividend revenue received on underlying 
equity instruments investment will still be recognised in profit or loss. 
 
Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised at settlement date in 
accordance with the Group's accounting policy. 

 
Derecognition 
Derecognition refers to the removal of a previously recognised financial asset or financial liability from the 
statement of financial position. 
 
Derecognition of financial liabilities 
A liability is derecognised when it is extinguished (i.e., when the obligation in the contract is discharged, 
cancelled or expires). An exchange of an existing financial liability for a new one with substantially modified 
terms, or a substantial modification to the terms of a financial liability is treated as an extinguishment of the 
existing liability and recognition of a new financial liability. 
 
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration 
paid and payable, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or 
loss. 
 
Derecognition of financial assets 
 
A financial asset is derecognised when the holder's contractual rights to its cash flows expires, or the asset is 
transferred in such a way that all the risks and rewards of ownership are substantially transferred. 
All of the following criteria need to be satisfied for derecognition of financial asset: 

• the right to receive cash flows from the asset has expired or been transferred; 

• all risk and rewards of ownership of the asset have been substantially transferred; and 

• the Group no longer controls the asset (i.e., the Group has no practical ability to make a unilateral 
decision to sell the asset to a third party). 

 
On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between the asset's 
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss. 
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On derecognition of a debt instrument classified as at fair value through other comprehensive income, the 
cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve is reclassified to profit 
or loss. 
 
On derecognition of an investment in equity which was elected to be classified under fair value through 
other comprehensive income, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the investment 
revaluation reserve is not reclassified to profit or loss but is transferred to retained earnings. 

 
Impairment  
The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses on: 

• financial assets that are measured at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive 
income; 

• lease receivables; 

• contract assets (e.g., amounts due from customers under construction contracts); 

• loan commitments that are not measured at fair value through profit or loss; and 

• financial guarantee contracts that are not measured at fair value through profit or loss. 
 
Loss allowance is not recognised for: 

• financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss; or 

• equity instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income. 
 
Expected credit losses are the probability-weighted estimate of credit losses over the expected life of a 
financial instrument. A credit loss is the difference between all contractual cash flows that are due and all 
cash flows expected to be received, all discounted at the original effective interest rate of the financial 
instrument. 
 
The Group uses the simplified approach to impairment, as applicable under AASB 9: Financial Instruments. 

 
Simplified approach 
The simplified approach does not require tracking of changes in credit risk at every reporting period, but 
instead requires the recognition of lifetime expected credit loss at all times. This approach is applicable to: 

• trade receivables or contract assets that result from transactions within the scope of AASB 15: 
Revenue from Contracts with Customers and which do not contain a significant financing 
component; and 

• lease receivables. 
 
In measuring the expected credit loss, a provision matrix for trade receivables was used taking into 
consideration various data to get to an expected credit loss (i.e., diversity of customer base, appropriate 
groupings of historical loss experience, etc). 
Recognition of expected credit losses in financial statements 
 
At each reporting date, the Group recognises the movement in the loss allowance as an impairment gain or 
loss in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 
The carrying amount of financial assets measured at amortised cost includes the loss allowance relating to 
that asset. 
 
Assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income are recognised at fair value, with 
changes in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income. Amounts in relation to change in credit risk 
are transferred from other comprehensive income to profit or loss at every reporting period. 
 
For financial assets that are unrecognised (e.g., loan commitments yet to be drawn, financial guarantees), a 
provision for loss allowance is created in the statement of financial position to recognise the loss allowance. 
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h) Right-of-use assets 
A right-of-use asset is recognised at the commencement date of a lease. The right-of-use asset is measured 
at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability, adjusted for, as applicable, any lease 
payments made at or before the commencement date net of any lease incentives received, any initial direct 
costs incurred, and, except where included in the cost of inventories, an estimate of costs expected to be 
incurred for dismantling and removing the underlying asset, and restoring the site or asset. 
 
Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the unexpired period of the lease or the 
estimated useful life of the asset, whichever is the shorter. Where the consolidated entity expects to obtain 
ownership of the leased asset at the end of the lease term, the depreciation is over its estimated useful life. 
Right-of use assets are subject to impairment or adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. 
 
The consolidated entity has elected not to recognise a right-of-use asset and corresponding lease liability for 
short-term leases with terms of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets. Lease payments on these 
assets are expensed to profit or loss as incurred. 

 
i) Lease liabilities 

 
A lease liability is recognised at the commencement date of a lease. The lease liability is initially recognised 
at the present value of the lease payments to be made over the term of the lease, discounted using the 
interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, the consolidated entity's 
incremental borrowing rate. Lease payments comprise of fixed payments less any lease incentives 
receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, amounts expected to be paid under 
residual value guarantees, exercise price of a purchase option when the exercise of the option is reasonably 
certain to occur, and any anticipated termination penalties. The variable lease payments that do not depend 
on an index or a rate are expensed in the period in which they are incurred. 
 
Lease liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The carrying amounts 
are remeasured if there is a change in the following: future lease payments arising from a change in an index 
or a rate used; residual guarantee; lease term; certainty of a purchase option and termination penalties. 
When a lease liability is remeasured, an adjustment is made to the corresponding right-of use asset, or to 
profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset is fully written down. 
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j) Exploration and evaluation costs 
 
Exploration and evaluation expenditures incurred are capitalised in respect of each identifiable area of 
interest. These costs are only capitalised to the extent that they are expected to be recovered through the 
successful development of the area or where activities in the area have not yet reached a stage that permits 
reasonable assessment of the existence of economically recoverable reserves. 
 
Accumulated costs in relation to an abandoned area are written off in full against profit or loss in the period 
in which the decision to abandon the area is made. 
 
When production commences, the accumulated costs for the relevant area of interest are amortised over 
the life of the area according to the rate of depletion of the economically recoverable reserves. 
 
A regular review is undertaken of each area of interest to determine the appropriateness of continuing to 
capitalise costs in relation to that area. 

 
k) Impairment of non-financial assets 

 
Non-financial assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that 
the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the 
asset's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. 
 
Recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's fair value less costs of disposal and value-in-use. The value-in-
use is the present value of the estimated future cash flows relating to the asset using a pre-tax discount rate 
specific to the asset or cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. Assets that do not have independent 
cash flows are grouped together to form a cash-generating unit. 

 
l) Trade and other payables 

 
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the consolidated entity prior to the 
end of the financial year and which are unpaid. Due to their short-term nature they are measured at 
amortised cost and are not discounted. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of 
recognition. 

 
m) Finance costs 

 
Finance costs attributable to qualifying assets are capitalised as part of the asset. All other finance costs are 
expensed in the period in which they are incurred. 
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n) Fair value measurement 
 
When an asset or liability, financial or non-financial, is measured at fair value for recognition or disclosure 
purposes, the fair value is based on the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a 
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date; and assumes that 
the transaction will take place either: in the principal market; or in the absence of a principal market, in the 
most advantageous market. 
 
Fair value is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or 
liability, assuming they act in their economic best interests. For non-financial assets, the fair value 
measurement is based on its highest and best use. Valuation techniques that are appropriate in the 
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure fair value, are used, maximising the use 
of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs. 
 
Assets and liabilities measured at fair value are classified into three levels, using a fair value hierarchy that 
reflects the significance of the inputs used in making the measurements. Classifications are reviewed at each 
reporting date and transfers between levels are determined based on a reassessment of the lowest level of 
input that is significant to the fair value measurement. 
 
For recurring and non-recurring fair value measurements, external valuers may be used when internal 
expertise is either not available or when the valuation is deemed to be significant. External valuers are 
selected based on market knowledge and reputation. Where there is a significant change in fair value of an 
asset or liability from one period to another, an analysis is undertaken, which includes a verification of the 
major inputs applied in the latest valuation and a comparison, where applicable, with external sources of 
data. 

 
o) Issued capital 

 
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or 
options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. 

 
p) Goods and Services Tax ('GST') and other similar taxes 

 
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST incurred 
is not recoverable from the tax authority. In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of the acquisition of 
the asset or as part of the expense. 
 
Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount of 
GST recoverable from, or payable to, the tax authority is included in other receivables or other payables in 
the statement of financial position. 
 
Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or 
financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to the tax authority, are presented as operating 
cash flows. 
 
Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the 
tax authority. 
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q) Significant Accounting Judgements, Estimates and Assumptions 
 

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts in the financial statements. Management continually 
evaluates its judgements and estimates in relation to assets, liabilities, contingent liabilities, revenue and 
expenses. Management bases its judgements, estimates and assumptions on historical experience and on 
other various factors, including expectation of future events, management believes to be reasonable under 
the circumstances. The resulting accounting judgments and estimates will seldom equal the related actual 
results. In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following 
judgments, apart from those involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the amounts in 
the financial statements. 
 
Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic-Judgement has been exercised in considering the impacts that the 
Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic has had, or may have, on the consolidated entity based on known 
information. This consideration extends to the nature of the products and services offered, supply chain, 
staffing and geographic regions in which the consolidated entity operates. Other than as addressed in 
specific notes, there does not currently appear to be either any significant impact upon the financial 
statements or any significant uncertainties with respect to events or conditions which may impact the 
consolidated entity unfavourably as at the reporting date or subsequently as a result of the Coronavirus 
(COVID-19) pandemic. 
 
Exploration and evaluation expenditure 
The Group’s accounting policy for exploration and evaluation expenditure is set out at Note 1(j). The 
application of this policy necessarily requires management to make certain estimates and assumptions as to 
future events and circumstances. Any such estimates and assumptions may change as new information 
becomes available. If, after having capitalised expenditure under the policy, it is concluded that the 
expenditures are unlikely to be recovered by future exploitation or sale, then the capitalised amount will be 
written off to the statement of comprehensive income. 
 
Share-based payment transactions 
The Group measures the cost of equity-settled transactions by reference to the fair value of the equity 
instruments at the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined by using either the Binomial, 
market value or Black-Scholes model taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the 
instruments were granted. The accounting estimates and assumptions relating to equity-settled share-based 
payments would have no impact on the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next annual 
reporting period but may impact profit or loss and equity. 
 
The fair value of the performance rights granted during the current year are outlined in the accompanying 
remuneration report. 
 
As the directors were not able to reliably estimate nor predict whether the achievement of the non-market 
based milestones was probable (i.e. less than 50% probability) at grant date, no value was recorded in the 
Consolidated Statement of Financial Performance and position. 
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2. OTHER EXPENSES 
  

 
2022 

$ 
2021 

$ 
Company secretary fee 42,000 10,500 

Depreciation 20,819 12,276 

Directors’ fee 166,025 81,496 

Investor relations services 94,674 32,096 

Other expenses 345,807 123,278 

Project expenses written off 373,275 116,881 

Share based payments - 615,430 

Total other expenses 1,042,600 991,957 
 
Superannuation expense was $3,535 in the current financial year (2021: nil). 
 
3. FINANCE INCOME AND COSTS 
 

 
2022 

$ 
2021 

$ 
Finance income   

 Interest earned 1,145 119 

Total finance income 1,145 119 

   

Finance costs   

 Bank fees 247                  245  

 Interest expense 6,200                  828  

Total finance costs 6,447                    1,073  
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4. INCOME TAX  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tax losses distributed / to be distributed as Junior Minerals Exploration Incentive credits are $500,000. 
 
The Group considers that in the future it will be generating taxable income to utilise carried forward tax losses, 
however, it does not meet the recognition criteria. Additionally, the carried forward tax losses can only be 
utilised in the future when taxable income is being generated, if the continuity of ownership test is passed, or 
failing that, the same business test is passed.  
 
5. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
 

 
2022 

$ 
2021 

$ 

Cash at bank and on hand         5,148,495          5,243,265  

Total cash and cash equivalents           5,148,495            5,243,265  

Balance per statement of cashflow           5,148,495  5,243,265 
 
6. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 
 

 
2022 

$ 
2021 

$ 

TFN withholding tax receivable                 528                    37  

GST receivable             84,606              31,279  

Other receivable                    -                20,420  

Total trade and other receivables                 85,134                  51,736  

 
No aging analysis has been provided as all amount is expected to be received within 6 months of year end. 
Refer to note 23 Financial Instruments for further information.  

 
2022 

$ 
2021 

$ 
Loss before income tax  (997,902) (966,949) 

   
Prima facie tax (benefit) on loss before income tax at 
30% (2021: 30%) 

(299,371) (290,085) 

   

Permanent differences:   

Non-assessable income - (7,788) 

Non-deductible expenses 1,130 185,093 

Blackhole deductions (36,795) (35,925) 

Movement in unrecognised tax assets and liabilities (557,522) 57,371 

Current year tax loss not recognisable 892,558 91,334 

Under/(Over) provided in prior year - - 

Aggregate income tax expense - - 

   

Aggregate income tax expense comprises:   

Current taxation expense - - 

Net deferred tax - - 

 - - 

Cumulative unused tax losses for which no deferred 
tax asset has been recognised: 

  

Revenue losses (3,189,749) (714,556) 

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



AUSTRALASIAN METALS LIMITED (FORMERLY AUSTRALASIAN GOLD LIMITED) ACN 625 744 907 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022 
 
 

Page 45 

 

7. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 
 

Cost 
2022 

$ 
2021 

$ 
Building 49,467  33,758 

Accumulated depreciation (10,993) (28,643) 

Total right-of-use assets  38,474  5,115 

 
The following table shows the movements in right-of-use assets: 
 

 
Buildings 

$ 
Total 

$ 
Gross carrying amount   

Balance at 1 July 2021 33,758 33,758 

Additions on renewal of lease 49,467 49,467 

Conclusion of existing lease (33,758) (33,758) 

Balance at 30 June 2022 49,467 49,467 

   

Depreciation and impairment   

Balance at 1 July 2021 28,643 28,643 

Conclusion of existing lease (33,758) (33,758) 

Depreciation 16,108 16,108 

Balance at 30 June 2022 10,993 10,993 

   

Carrying amount 30 June 2022 38,474 38,474 

 

 
Buildings 

$ 
Total 

$ 

Gross carrying amount   

Balance at 1 July 2020 60,464 60,464 

Additions - - 

Disposals (26,706) (26,706) 

Balance at 30 June 2021 33,758 33,758 

   

Depreciation and impairment   

Balance at 1 July 2020 25,020 25,020 

Disposals (8,653) (8,653) 

Depreciation 12,276 12,276 

Balance at 30 June 2021 28,643 28,643 

   

Carrying amount 30 June 2021 5,115 5,115 
 

Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 
 

 
2022 

$ 
2021 

$ 
Depreciation             16,107                12,276 

Interest expense               6,200  828 

Total                 22,307                13,104 

 
The Group leases office space under agreement (3 years term). On renewal, the terms of the leases are 
renegotiated. 
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8. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS 
 

 
2022 

$ 
2021 

$ 
Opening balance           812,960  - 

Exploration assets capitalised 1,330,845           261,473 

Tenements acquired         255,000           551,487 

Total exploration and evaluation assets at cost           2,398,805            812,960 

 
The capitalised exploration and evaluation costs represent expenditure incurred by the Group in relation to 
acquisition of tenements, exploration and evaluation expenditure incurred during the period which meet the 
criteria for recording as an asset per AASB 6 Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral Resources.   
 
The recoverability of the carrying amount of the exploration and evaluation assets is dependent upon 
successful development and commercial exploitation, or alternatively, sale of the respective areas of interest, 
the results of which are still uncertain. 

 
9. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 
 

Unsecured 
2022 

$ 
2021 

$ 
Trade payables 199,692 20,559 

Accruals 33,320 278,247 

Total trade and other payables 233,012 298,806 

 
Refer to Note 23 Financial Instrument for further information.  
 
10. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 
 

 
2022 

$ 
2021 

$ 

 Current                10,992                  -    

 Non-current   -   -  

 Total employee benefits                10,992                  -    

 
11. LEASE LIABILITIES 
 

 2022 
$ 

2021 
$ 

Current             15,648  5,957 

Non-current             24,439  - 

Total lease liabilities                 40,087  5,957 

 
The incremental borrowing rate applied to lease liabilities recognised was 4.19%.  (30 June 2021: 6.20%) 
 
Refer to Note 23 Financial Instrument for further information.  
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12. ISSUED CAPITAL 
 

 30 June 2022 30 June 2021 

 Number $ Number $ 

Issued capital 52,120,494 9,929,349 45,564,941 7,242,489 

Cost of shares issued - (613,249) - (593,304) 

Fully paid ordinary shares 52,120,494 9,316,100 45,564,941 6,649,185 

 
a) Ordinary shares 
Ordinary shares participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding up of the parent entity in proportion to 
the number of shares held. At the shareholders’ meeting each ordinary share is entitled to one vote when a 
poll is called, otherwise each shareholder has one vote on a show of hands. 
 
Movements in ordinary shares 
 

Date Details Number $ Issue price 

1 July 2020 Balance at period end 6,000,001 600,001  

12 August 2020 Issue of shares – Fairview 500,000 50,000 $0.10 per share 

12 August 2020 Issue of shares – director fee 2,000,000 29,500 $0.01475 per share 

25 November 2020 Issue of shares – Mt Clermont 1,000,000 100,000 $0.10 per share 

8 December 2020 Issue of shares – seed capital 2,000,000 200,000 $0.10 per share 

29 January 2021 Issue of shares – Directors 1,000,000 200,000 $0.20 per share 

5 February 2021 Issue of shares – May Queen 1,000,000 100,000 $0.10 per share 

5 February 2021 Issue of shares – May Queen 4,500,000 450,000 $0.10 per share 

13 May 2021 Issue of shares – IPO 27,564,940 5,512,988 $0.20 per share 

30 June 2021 Balance at period end 45,564,941 7,242,489  

6 September 2021 Issue of shares – Capella 500,000 105,000 $0.21 per share 

8 October 2021 Qingtao PR convert to shares 500,000 81,860 - 

12 October 2021 Issue of shares – various investor 5,555,553 2,500,000 $0.45 per share 

30 June 2022 Balance at period end 52,120,494 9,929,349  

 
b) Capital management 
Management objectives when managing capital are to ensure that the Group can fund further exploration and 
listing activities and remain a going concern. 
 
The Group manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of the forecast cash 
requirements. To that end, internal capital rationing is complemented by capital raising activities as required to 
ensure funding for development activities is in place. 
 
There are no externally imposed capital requirements. There was no change to the capital management 
policies from last year. 
 
13. SHARE OPTION RESERVE 
 

 2022 
$ 

2021 
$ 

Share option reserve 587,140 669,000 

Total share option reserve 587,140 669,000 
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Movements in share option reserve 
 

 2022 
$ 

2021 
$ 

Balance at beginning of year 669,000 - 

Issue of options - 507,140 

Issue/(conversion) of performance rights (81,860) 161,860 

Balance at the end of the year 587,140 669,000 

 
On 8 October 2021, Dr Qingtao Zeng converted 500,000 performance rights into shares on meeting the 
performance hurdles. The fair value of the 500,000 performance rights was determined to be $81,860. 
 
(1) Options 

 
No option has been granted during the 2022 financial year. 
 
Set out below are summaries of options granted during the 2021 financial year. 
 

2021        

   Balance at    Expired/  Balance at  
  Exercise  the start of    forfeited/ the end of  

Grant date Expiry date price the year Granted Exercised  other the year 
        

11/12/2020 31/01/2023 $0.30 - 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000 

27/01/2021 05/05/2023 $0.30 - 2,000,000 - - 2,000,000 

29/01/2021 05/05/2023 $0.30 - 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000 

22/02/2021 05/05/2023 $0.30 - 2,000,000 - - 2,000,000 
   - 6,000,000 - - 6,000,000 

Weighted average exercise price - $0.30 - - $0.30 

 
For options granted during the 2021 financial year, the valuation model inputs used to determine the grant 
date fair value were: 
 

  Share price Exercise Expected Dividend Risk-free Fair value 

Grant date Expiry date at grant date price volatility yield interest rate at grant date 
        

11/12/2020 31/01/2023 $0.20 $0.30 100.00% 0.00% 0.10% $0.0845 

27/01/2021 05/05/2023 $0.20 $0.30 100.00% 0.00% 0.10% $0.0845 

29/01/2021 05/05/2023 $0.20 $0.30 100.00% 0.00% 0.10% $0.0845 

22/02/2021 05/05/2023 $0.20 $0.30 100.00% 0.00% 0.10% $0.0845 

 
Set out below are the options exercisable at the end of the financial year: 
 

  2022 2021 

Grant date Expiry date Number Number 

11/12/2020 31/01/2023 1,000,000 1,000,000 

27/01/2021 05/05/2023 2,000,000 2,000,000 

29/01/2021 05/05/2023 1,000,000 1,000,000 

22/02/2021 05/05/2023 2,000,000 2,000,000 

  6,000,000 6,000,000 
 

The weighted average share price during the financial year was $0.55 (2021: $0.167). 
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The weighted average remaining contractual life of options outstanding at the end of the financial year was 
0.81 years (2021: 1.81 years). 
 
(2) Performance Rights 
 

 Number of    

 performance rights   Fair value/right 

2022 granted Grant date Expiry date at grant date 

Series a 1,300,000 13/12/2021 30/11/2022 0.2066 

Series b 1,300,000 13/12/2021 31/05/2023 0.4700 

 2,600,000    

 
Performance rights granted carry no dividend or voting rights.  
 
Series a performance rights were valued using Trinomial Barrier method. The assumptions used are as follows: 
Underlying Share Price: $0.47; Exercise Price: $nil; Volatility: 95%; Risk Free Rate: 0.137%; Grant Date: 
13/12/2021; Expiry Date: 30/11/2022. Series b performance rights were valued based on the underlying share 
price of $0.47 on the grant date. 

 
As the directors were not able to reliably estimate nor predict whether the achievement of the above named 
non-market based milestones was probable at grant date, no value was recorded in the Consolidated 
Statement of Financial Performance and position. 
 

 Number of    

 performance rights   Fair value/right 

2021 granted Grant date Expiry date at grant date 

Dr Qingtao Zeng 3,500,000 01/01/2021 05/05/2023 0.0462 

 3,500,000   - 

 
Set out below are summaries of performance rights granted: 
 

2022       

  Balance at    Expired/  Balance at  
  the start of    forfeited/ the end of  

Grant date Expiry date the year Granted Converted  other the year 
       

13/12/2021 30/11/2022 - 1,300,000 - - 1,300,000 

13/12/2021 31/05/2023 - 1,300,000 - - 1,300,000 

27/01/2021 05/05/2023 3,500,000 - (500,000) - 3,000,000 
  3,500,000 2,600,000 (500,000) - 5,600,000 

 
None of the performance rights are exercisable at the end of the financial year. 
 

2021       

  Balance at    Expired/  Balance at  
  the start of    forfeited/ the end of  

Grant date Expiry date the year Granted Exercised  other the year 
       

27/01/2021 05/05/2023 - 3,500,000 - - 3,500,000 
  - 3,500,000 - - 3,500,000 
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14. COMMITMENTS 
 

 $ 

Tenement commitments 0-1 year 1,530,000 

Tenement commitments 1-2 years 1,530,000 

Total commitments 3,060,000 

 
In order to maintain current rights of tenure to mining tenements in Australia, the Group has the above 
exploration expenditure requirements. If the Group decides to relinquish certain leases and/or does not meet 
these obligations, exploration and evaluation assets recognised in the consolidated statement of financial 
position may require review to determine appropriateness of carrying values. The sale, transfer or farm-out of 
exploration rights to third parties will reduce or extinguish these obligations.  
 
15. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND CONTINGENT ASSETS 
 
At the reporting date, the Group had no contingent assets or liabilities. (2021: nil) 
 
16. PARENT ENTITY INFORMATION 
 

 2022 
$ 

2021 
$ 

Assets   

Current assets 5,265,966 5,337,187 

Non-current assets 2,456,135 818,347 

Total assets 7,722,101 6,155,534 

   

Liabilities   

Current liabilities 259,653 304,763 

Non-current liabilities 24,438 - 

Total liabilities  284,091 304,763 

   

Net assets 7,438,010 5,850,771 

   

Equity   

Issued capital 9,316,100 6,649,185 

Share option reserve 587,140 669,000 

Accumulated losses (2,465,230) (1,467,414) 

Total equity 7,438,010 5,850,771 

   

Loss for the period (1,047,543) (992,638) 

 
Guarantees 
 
The company has not entered into any guarantees in the current financial period, in relation to the debt of its 
subsidiary. 
 
Contingent liabilities & capital commitments  
 
As at 30 June 2022, the company does not have any capital commitments and contingent liabilities other than 
those in notes 14 and 15. 
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17. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 
a) Transactions with related parties 
 
During the year, the Group has a lease agreement with Woodsouth Asset Management which is controlled by a 
close family member of Qingtao Zeng, director of Australasian Metals Limited. Total amounts paid/payable to 
Woodsouth Asset Management during the year were $16,698. The amount owning to the related party at year 
end was $13,321 (2021: $1,210).  
 
During the year, Graeme Fraser’s director and consulting fees of $106,064 were paid to Wilsca Pty Ltd which is 
controlled by him. Rory McGoldrick’s director and consulting fees of $15,932 were paid to a company Petra 
Cotes Pty Ltd which is controlled by him. 
 
All transactions were made on normal commercial terms and conditions. 
 
b) Subsidiary 
 
Refer to note 19. 
 
c) Key management personnel 
 
Refer to note 25 and the remuneration report. 
 
18. OPERATING SEGMENTS 
 
For management’s purposes, the Group is organised into one main operating segment, which involves the 
exploration and development of minerals in Australia. All of the Group’s activities are interrelated, and discrete 
financial information is reported to the Board as a single segment. Accordingly, all significant operating 
decisions are based upon analysis of the Group as one segment. The financial results from this segment are 
equivalent to the financial statements of the Group as a whole.  
 
19. CONTROLLED ENTITY 

 
Details of subsidiary controlled by the Company as at 30 June 2022 are as follows 
 

  
Percentage Owned 

(%) 
Percentage Owned 

(%) 

 
Country of 

Incorporation 
30 June 2022 30 June 2021 

Subsidiary of Australasian Metals Limited    

Pure Mining Pty Ltd (ACN 627 691 721) Australia 100% 100% 
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20. RECONCILIATION OF LOSS AFTER INCOME TAX TO NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
 

 2022 
$ 

2021 
$ 

Net loss (997,902) (966,949) 

   

Add back: Non-cashflows in loss    

- AASB 16 related finance costs 6,200 828 

- AASB 16 related depreciation 16,107 12,276 

- depreciation 4,711 - 

- share-based payments - 615,430 

- project expenses paid by shares - 55,000 

- director fees paid by shares - 29,500 

- non-cash income - (25,962) 

- other (6,655) 8,267 

    

Changes in assets and liabilities    

- (increase)/decrease in trade & other receivables (53,817) (15,636) 

- (increase)/decrease in prepayments 9,849 (39,643) 

- increase/(decrease) in trade & other payables 91,134 (2,329) 

   

Net cash (used in) by operating activities (930,373) (329,218) 

 
Non-cash investing and financing activities 
 
The Group acquired tenements totalling $105,000 via the issue of shares. 
 
21. EARNINGS PER SHARE 
 

 
2022 

$ 
2021 

$ 
Reconciliation of earnings to profit:   

Loss used in the calculation of basic and diluted EPS (997,902) (966,949) 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding 
during the year used in the calculation of basic EPS 

50,307,405 16,252,555 

   

Loss per share:   

Basic and diluted loss per share (cents per share) (1.98) (5.95) 

 
22. AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION 

 

 
2022 

$ 
2021 

$ 
Amount received or receivable by HLB Mann Judd for:   

Audit and review of financial statements 33,400 31,666 

Other services - 12,875 

Total auditor's remuneration 33,400 44,541 
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23. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
The Group’s financial instruments consist mainly of cash and deposits with banks, accounts receivable, payable, 
and lease liabilities. The totals for each category of financial instruments, measured in accordance with AASB 9: 
Financial Instruments as detailed in the accounting policies to these financial statements, are as follows: 
 

Financial assets 
2022 

$ 
2021 

$ 
Financial assets at amortised cost   

Cash and cash equivalents 5,148,495 5,243,265 

Trade and other receivables 528 20,457 

Total financial assets 5,149,023 5,263,722 

 

Financial liabilities 
2022 

$ 
2021 

$ 

Financial liabilities at amortised cost   

Trade and other payables   233,012  298,806  

Lease 40,087 5,957 

Total financial liabilities  273,099   304,763  

 
Financial Risk Management Policies  
The Board monitors the Group’s financial risk management policies and exposures and approves financial 
transactions within the scope of its authority. It also reviews the effectiveness of internal controls relating to 
commodity price risk, counterparty credit risk, foreign currency risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk.   
 
The overall risk management strategy seeks to assist the Group in meeting its financial targets, while 
minimising potential adverse effects on financial performance. Its functions include the review of the use of 
credit risk policies and future cash flow requirements. 
 
Specific financial risk exposures and management  
The main risks the Group is exposed to through its financial instruments are credit risk, liquidity risk and 
interest rate risk. There are no substantive changes in the types of risks the Group is exposed to, how these 
risks arise, or the Board’s objectives, policies and processes for managing or measuring the risks. 
 
a. Credit risk 
 
Exposure to credit risk relating to financial assets arises from the potential non-performance by counterparties 
of contract obligations that could lead to a financial loss to the Group. Due to the current nature of the Group, 
being an exploration entity, the Group is not exposed to material credit risk. In addition, the Group has a policy 
of banking with financial institution with a minimum credit rating of AA-. 
 
b. Liquidity risk  
 
Liquidity risk arises from the possibility that the Group might encounter difficulty in settling its debts or 
otherwise meeting its obligations related to financial liabilities.   
Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the Board of Directors, who have built an 
appropriate liquidity risk management framework for the management of the Group's short, medium and long-
term funding and liquidity management requirements. The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining 
adequate reserves and by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and matching the maturity 
profiles of financial assets and liabilities.  
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Typically, the Group ensures that it has sufficient cash to meet expected operational expenses for a period of 
60 days. The financial liabilities of the Group include trade and other payables as disclosed in the statement of 
financial position. All trade and other payables are non-interest bearing and due within 30 days of the reporting 
date.  
 
The following table reflects an undiscounted contractual maturity analysis for financial assets and financial 
liabilities.   
 
Financial liability and financial asset maturity analysis: 
 
2022 
 

Financial liabilities due for payment 
Within 1 Year 

$ 
1 to 5 Years 

$ 
Total 

$ 

Trade and other payables (233,012) - (233,012) 

Lease Liability (15,648) (24,439) (40,087) 

Total expected outflows (248,660) (24,439) (273,099) 

 

Financial assets – cash flows realisable 
Within 1 Year 

$ 
1 to 5 Years 

$ 
Total 

$ 

Cash and cash equivalents 5,148,495 - 5,148,495 

Trade and other receivables 528 - 528 

Total anticipated inflows 5,149,023 - 5,149,023 

Net inflow on financial instruments 4,900,363 (24,439) 4,875,924 

 
2021 
 

Financial liabilities due for payment 
Within 1 Year 

$ 
1 to 5 Years 

$ 
Total 

$ 
Trade and other payables (298,806) - (298,806) 

Lease Liability (5,957)  (5,957) 

Total expected outflows (304,763) - (304,763) 

 

Financial assets – cash flows realisable 
Within 1 Year 

$ 
1 to 5 Years 

$ 
Total 

$ 
Cash and cash equivalents 5,243,265 - 5,243,265 

Trade and other receivables 20,457 - 20,457 

Total anticipated inflows 5,263,722 - 5,263,722 

Net inflow on financial instruments 4,958,959 - 4,958,959 

 
c. Interest rate risk 
 
This is initiated to the Group’s cash balance which bears floating rate. The weighted interest rate was 0.01% 
during the year (2021: 0.01%). 
 
Should the interest rate change by 1%, the Group’s net results would increase/decrease by $51,485 (2021: 
$52,432). 
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Fair value estimation  
 
The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are presented above and can be compared to their 
carrying values as presented in the consolidated statement of financial position. Fair values are those amounts 
at which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm's 
length transaction. The Group does not record any of its assets and liabilities at fair value post initial 
recognition. 
 
Financial instruments whose carrying value is equivalent to fair value due to their nature include:  
 

• Cash and cash equivalents; 

• Other receivables; and  

• Other payables  
 
24. EVENTS AFTER THE END OF THE YEAR  
 
No matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year which significantly affected or may 
significantly affect the operations of the Group, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the 
Group in future financial years. 
 
25. KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL 
 
Compensation 
 
The aggregate compensation made to directors and other members of key management personnel of the 
Group is set out below: 
 

 2022 2021 
 $ $ 

Short-term employee benefits 531,852 195,596 
Post-employment benefits 11,784 - 
Long-term benefits - - 
Share-based payments - 644,930 

 543,636 840,526 

 
26. CHANGES IN LIABILITIES FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 
 

 Lease  

 liability Total 

Consolidated $ $ 
   

Balance at 1 July 2020 38,205 38,205 

Other changes (22,460) (22,460) 

Repayment (9,788) (9,788) 

Balance at 30 June 2021 5,957 5,957 
   

Balance at 1 July 2021 5,957 5,957 

Other changes 49,466 49,466 

Repayment (15,236) (15,236) 

Balance at 30 June 2022 40,187 40,187 
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27. COMPANY DETAILS 
 
The registered office and principal place of business is: 
 
Registered Address: 
Level 6, 505 Little Collins Street 
Melbourne, VIC 3000 
 
Principal Business Office: 
Unit 34, 123B Colin Street 
West Perth, WA 6008 
  

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



AUSTRALASIAN METALS LIMITED (FORMERLY AUSTRALASIAN GOLD LIMITED) ACN 625 744 907 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022 
 
 

Page 57 

 

Director’s Declaration 
 
In the directors' opinion: 
  

• the attached financial statements and notes comply with the Corporations Act 2001, the Accounting 
Standards, the Corporations Regulations 2001 and other mandatory professional reporting 
requirements; 

• the attached financial statements and notes comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as 
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board as described in note 1 to the financial 
statements; 

• the attached financial statements and notes give a true and fair view of the Group's financial position 
as at 30 June 2022 and of its performance for the financial year ended on that date; and 

• there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its debts as and when 
they become due and payable 

 
The directors have been given the declarations required by section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001. 
 
Signed in accordance with a resolution of directors made pursuant to section 295(5)(a) of the Corporations Act 
2001. 
 
On behalf of the directors 
 

 
___________________________ 
Dr Qingtao Zeng 
Managing Director 
 
Dated this 28th day of September 2022 
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Australasian Metals Limited (formerly 
Australasian Gold Limited) 
 

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL REPORT 
 
Opinion  
 
We have audited the financial report of Australasian Metals Limited, formerly Australasian Gold 
Limited (“the Company”) and its controlled entity (“the Group”), which comprises the 
consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2022, the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in 
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the 
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, and the directors’ 
declaration.  
 
In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the Group is in accordance with the 
Corporations Act 2001, including:  
 
(a) giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2022 and of its 

financial performance for the year then ended; and  
 

(b) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001.  
 
Basis for Opinion  
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Financial Report section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the 
auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements 
of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants (“the Code”) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in 
Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.  
 
We confirm that the independence declaration required by the Corporations Act 2001, which 
has been given to the directors of the Company, would be in the same terms if given to the 
directors as at the time of this auditor’s report.  
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinion.  
 
Key Audit Matters  
 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most 
significance in our audit of the financial report of the current period. These matters were 
addressed in the context of our audit of the financial report as a whole, and in forming our 
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.  
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Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

Carrying value of exploration and evaluation assets 
Refer to Note 8 of the financial report 

In accordance with AASB 6 
Exploration for and Evaluation of 
Mineral Resources (“AASB 6”), for 
each area of interest, the Group 
capitalises expenditure incurred in 
the exploration for and evaluation 
of mineral resources. These 
capitalised assets are recorded 
using the cost model. 
 
Our audit focussed on the Group’s 
assessment of the carrying amount 
of the capitalised exploration and 
evaluation asset, because this is 
one of the significant assets of the 
Group. There is a risk that the 
capitalised expenditure no longer 
meets the criteria of AASB 6. In 
addition, we considered it 
necessary to assess whether facts 
and circumstances existed to 
suggest that the carrying amount of 
an exploration and evaluation asset 
may exceed its recoverable 
amount. 

Our procedures included but were not limited to: 

• testing the capitalised exploration expenditures 
incurred in respect of the Group’s areas of interest by  
evaluating supporting documentation for consistency 
to the capitalisation requirements of the Group’s 
accounting policies and the requirements of AASB 6; 

• obtaining an understanding of the key processes 
associated with management’s review of the 
exploration and evaluation asset carrying values; 

• considering and assessing the Directors’ assessment 
of potential indicators of impairment 

• obtaining evidence that the Group has current rights 
to tenure of its area of interest; 

• examining the exploration budget for 2022/23 and 
discussed with management the nature of planned 
ongoing activities; 

• enquiring with management regarding ASX 
announcements and minutes of Directors’ meetings 
to ensure that the Group had not decided to 
discontinue exploration and evaluation at its areas of 
interest; and 

• examining the disclosures made in the financial report 
against the requirements of applicable Australian 
Accounting Standards. 

 
Information Other than the Financial Report and Auditor’s Report Thereon 
 
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
information included in the Group’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2022, but does 
not include the financial report and our auditor’s report thereon.  
 
Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do 
not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  
 
In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent 
with the financial report or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be 
materially misstated.  
 
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of 
this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this 
regard.  
 
Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Report  
 
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that 
gives a true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the 
Corporations Act 2001 and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to 
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enable the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the ability of the 
Group to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to 
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a 
whole is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing 
Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise 
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this 
financial report.  
 
As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise 
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:  

 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for 
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.  

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.  

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.  

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability 
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial 
report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are 
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, 
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.  

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including 
the disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions 
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.  

 
We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that we identify during our audit.  
We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and 
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where 
applicable, related safeguards.  
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From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of 
most significance in the audit of the financial report of the current period and are therefore the 
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation 
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we 
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse 
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest 
benefits of such communication. 
 
REPORT ON THE REMUNERATION REPORT  
 
Opinion on the Remuneration Report 
 
We have audited the Remuneration Report included in pages 18 to 25 of the directors’ report 
for the year ended 30 June 2022.   
 
In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of Australasian Metals Limited for the year ended 30 
June 2022 complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. 
 
Responsibilities 
 
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the 
Remuneration Report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.  Our 
responsibility is to express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit 
conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. 
 

  
HLB Mann Judd 
Chartered Accountants 

Jude Lau 
Partner 

 

Melbourne 
28 September 2022 
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Corporate Governance Statement 
 
The Company has adopted systems of control and accountability as the basis for the administration of 
corporate governance.  The Board is committed to administering the policies and procedures with 
openness and integrity, pursuing the true spirit of corporate governance commensurate with the 
Company's needs.  To the extent they are applicable, the Company has adopted the Corporate 
Governance Principles and Recommendations (4th Edition) as published by ASX Corporate Governance 
Council. 
 
The following corporate governance charters, codes and policies have been implemented and are 

available on the Company’s website at www.australasiangold.com: 
 

• Board Charter 

• Corporate Code of Conduct 

• Diversity, Nomination and Remuneration Committee Charter 

• Audit and Risk Committee Charter 

• Shareholder Communication Guidelines and Policy 

• Disclosure Policy 

• Securities Trading Policy  
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Additional ASX Information 
 

Additional information required by the ASX Limited (“ASX”) Listing Rules and not disclosed elsewhere in 
this set out below. The shareholder information set out below was applicable as at 20 September 2022. 
 
A. Distribution of equity securities 
 
Analysis of numbers of equity security holders by size of holding: 
 

    
      Class of equity security 

       Ordinary shares 

        
1 − 1,000     196 

1,001 − 5,000     651 
5,001 − 10,000     342 

10,001 − 100,000     354 
100,001 and over     58 

      1,601 

 
There were 381 holders of less than a marketable parcel of ordinary shares. 

B.  Equity security holders 

Twenty largest quoted equity security holders – ordinary shares 
 

Rank Name Units %  

1 IRONRIDGE RESOURCES LIMITED 5,500,000 10.55 

2 HONG KONG WE INVESTMENT CO LIMITED 4,000,000 7.67 

3 WOODSOUTH ASSET MANAGEMENT PTY LTD 3,700,000 7.10 

4 GEOSMART CONSULTING PTY LTD 3,150,000 6.04 

5 SHANDONG RUIFU LITHIUM INDUSTRY CO LIMITED 2,222,222 4.26 

5 TANGSHAN XINFENG (HONG KONG) LIMITED 2,222,222 4.26 

7 MR YUQING LIU 2,000,000 3.84 

8 IMPACT MINERALS LIMITED 1,000,000 1.92 

8 MR LUPING YU 1,000,000 1.92 

10 ZHENGRONG CHEN 930,000 1.78 

11 BNP PARIBAS NOMINEES PTY LTD ACF CLEARSTREAM 592,978 1.14 

12 CAPE COAL PTY LTD 500,000 0.96 

12 NANNAN HE 500,000 0.96 

12 MR HAN TAO 500,000 0.96 

12 JIM THEODORAKOPOULOS 500,000 0.96 

12 MR QINGYAN XU 500,000 0.96 

17 BNP PARIBAS NOMS PTY LTD <DRP> 482,156 0.93 

18 MR XIANGENG ZENG 450,897 0.87 

19 MR ZHENGRONG CHEN 436,698 0.84 

20 PETRA COTES PTY LTD <MACONDO A/C>  400,000 0.77 

Totals: Top 20 holders of ORDINARY FULLY PAID SHARES (Total) 30,587,173 58.69 

Total Remaining Holders Balance 21,533,321 41.31 
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Additional Shareholder Information 

 
C. Substantial shareholders 
 

Rank Name Units %  

1 DR QINGTAO ZENG 6,850,000 13.14 

2 IRONRIDGE RESOURCES LIMITED 5,500,000 10.55 

3 HONG KONG WE INVESTMENT CO LIMITED 4,000,000 7.67 
 

 
D. Unquoted equity security holders with greater than 20% of an individual class 
 

Options exercisable at $0.30 expiring 31 January 2023  

Bridge The Gap Trading Pty Ltd  100% 

Options exercisable at $0.30 expiring 6 May 2023  

Woodsouth Asset Management Pty Ltd 40% 

Zenix Nominees Pty Ltd  40% 

 
E. Voting rights 
 
The voting rights attaching to each class of equity securities are set out below: 
 
Ordinary shares 
On a show of hands every member present at a meeting in person or by proxy shall have one vote and upon 
a poll each share shall have one vote. 
 
Options 
No options have any voting rights.  
 
F. On-market buyback 

 
There is no current on-market buyback. 

 
G. Restricted securities 
 
The Company currently has the following restricted securities on issue. 
 

Security Number Restriction Period 

Shares 10,450,000 Expiring 24 months from the date of quotation. 

Options  6,000,000 Expiring 24 months from the date of quotation. 

Performance Rights 5,600,000 Expiring 24 months from the date of quotation. 

 
Tenement schedule 
 

Tenement Project Location Ownership 

EPM 19419 May Queen Queensland 100% 

EPM 27746 May Queen Queensland 100% 

EPM 14116 Mt Clermont Queensland 100% 

EPM 25956 Capella Queensland 100%  

E08/3248 Fairview Western Australia 100% 

ELA 32830 Mt Peake Northern Territory 100% 

EL 30507, 28515, 29724, 
29725, 30470 

Barrow Creek Northern Territory 90% 
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